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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

Students for Life of America; Midwest
Bible Church; Pro-Life Action
League; Illinois Right to Life;
Clapham School; DuPage Precision
Products; Michael Flynn; Kolby
Atchison; Jaclyn Cornell; Ann
Scheidler; Eric Scheidler; Matthew
Yonke,

Plaintifts, Case No. 1:24-cv-11928

V.

Ann Gillespie, in her official capacity as
acting director of the Illinois
Department of Insurance; Kwame
Raoul, in his official capacity as attorney
general of Illinois; J.B. Pritzker, in his
official capacity as governor of Illinois,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Illinois law requires health-insurance policies to cover elective abortions on the
same terms as they cover pregnancy-related benefits. See 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a. It also
requires health-insurance policies to cover abortion-inducing drugs, and it forbids in-
surers to impose any cost-sharing arrangements such as co-pays or deductibles on this
coverage. See 215 ILCS 5,/3562.60. These abortion-inducing drugs must be provided
free of charge to any beneficiary who demands them, and they are paid for entirely by
premiums charged to other beneficiaries.

These compulsory abortion-coverage laws provide no exceptions or accommoda-

tions for employers or individuals who object to abortion on religious or moral
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grounds, not even for churches. As a result, Illinois residents who oppose abortion
have no way of obtaining state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion cov-
erage, forcing many of them to choose between paying for other people’s elective
abortions with their premiums or forgoing health insurance entirely.

Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws abridge the free exercise of religion
and other constitutional rights secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments.
They also violate numerous federal statutes, including 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462, the
Coates—-Snowe amendment (42 U.S.C. § 238n(a)), and the Weldon Amendment.
The plaintifts bring suit to permanently enjoin their enforcement.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28
U.S.C. § 1343, and 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

2. Venue is proper because one or more of the defendants resides in this judicial
district, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this
judicial district. See 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1)—(2).

3. Because the plaintifts’ claims arose in Cook County, the case is properly as-
signed to the eastern division.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Students for Life of America (Students for Life) is a 501(c)(3) non-
profit corporation organized under the laws of Virginia.

5. Plaintiff Midwest Bible Church is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation orga-
nized under the laws of Illinois.

6. Plaintiff Pro-Life Action League is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation orga-
nized under the laws of Illinois.

7. Plaintiff Illinois Right to Life is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation organized

under the laws of Illinois.
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8. Plaintiff Clapham School is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation organized
under the laws of Illinois.

9. Plaintiff DuPage Precision Products is a for-profit corporation organized un-
der the laws of Illinois.

10. Plaintift Michael Flynn is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

11. Plaintift Kolby Atchison is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

12. Plaintift Jaclyn Cornell is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

13. Plaintift Ann Scheidler is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

14. Plaintift Eric Scheidler is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

15. Plaintift Matthew Yonke is a citizen and resident of Illinois.

16. Defendant Ann Gillespie is the acting director of the Illinois Department of
Insurance. Her offices are at 122 South Michigan Avenue, 19th Floor, Chicago, Illi-
nois 60603, as well as 320 West Washington Street, Springfield, Illinois 62767. She
is charged with enforcing the state’s insurance laws, including ILCS 5/356z.4a and
215 ILCS 5,/356z.60, as well as regulating private health insurers in Illinois. Acting
Director Gillespie is sued in her official capacity.

17. Defendant Kwame Raoul is the attorney general of Illinois. His office is at
100 West Randolph Street, Chicago, Illinois 60601. He is charged with enforcing the
laws of Illinois, including ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60. Attorney Gen-
eral Raoul is sued in his official capacity.

18. Defendant J.B. Pritzker is the governor of Illinois. His offices are at 401
South Spring Street, Springfield, Illinois 62704, and 555 West Monroe Street, 16th

Floor Chicago, Illinois 60661. Governor Pritzker is sued in his official capacity.
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FACTS RELATED TO STANDING

19. Each of the plaintiffs is suffering injury in fact, which is traceable to the
defendants’ allegedly unlawful conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested
relief.

A. Students for Life of America

20. Plaintiff Students for Life of America (Students for Life) is a membership
organization that exists to oppose abortion and protect unborn children from vio-
lence. It has nearly 80 full-time staft, and comprises 1,400 pro-life student groups at
middle schools, high schools, colleges, universities, medical schools, and law schools
throughout the country. Students for Life is a Judeo—Christian organization, and its
opposition to abortion is based on many reasons, including its sincere religious belief
that life begins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life
is an act of murder. Students for Life also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that
paying health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions
makes one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

21. Students for Life explains its beliefs regarding abortion on its website:

We believe that the preborn human being is a person deserving the full
legal protection of the law—just like you and I. He or she is a whole,
living being who is intrinsically valuable. We believe that size, level of
development, environment, and degree of dependency do not deter-
mine someone’s personhood. We are all people simply because we are
living human beings. We became people the moment we were created-
when the father’s sperm and mother’s ovum united.

Abortion is the greatest genocide that our world and our nation have
ever known. We believe that a new generation of pro-life leaders must
be educated, trained, and equipped with the tools that they need to
abolish abortion once and for all. Our generation is the first since the
handing down of the Supreme Court cases Roe v. Wade and Doe v. Bol-
ton, which legalized abortion on demand in 1973. Our generation is
among the first to know that abortion kills a human person. We must
continue this momentum to turn the tide in our lifetime, and that starts
with you.
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https: / /studentsforlife.org/learn /why-should-you-care (emphasis removed) (last
visited on November 19, 2024).

22. Students for Life has standing to sue on two separate and independent
grounds. First, it has standing as an employer that wishes to provide abortion-free
health insurance to its employees in Illinois. Second, it has standing as an organization
whose individual members would have standing to sue in their own right.

1. Students for Life’s Standing As Employer

23. Some of Students for Life’s employees reside and work in Illinois.

24. Students for Life wishes to purchase and provide health insurance for these
Illinois-based employees.

25. But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Stu-
dents for Life to purchase and provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy that
excludes abortion coverage, and Students for Life cannot purchase or provide a state-
regulated health-insurance policy in Illinois without paying for other people’s elective
abortions and becoming complicit in what it regards as an act of murder. This inflicts
injury in fact. See Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stoves, Inc., 573 U.S. 682,710 (2014) (“[A]
law that ‘operates so as to make the practice of . . . religious beliefs more expensive’
in the context of business activities imposes a burden on the exercise of religion.”
(quoting Braunfeld v. Brown, 366 U.S. 599, 605 (1961)).

26. 'This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free

health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
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the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

2. Students for Life’s Organizational Standing

27. Students for Life also has “representational” or “organizational standing”
because it has members in Illinois who wish to purchase abortion-free health insur-
ance. Each of these members would have standing to sue the defendants if they had
sued as individuals. See Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President and Fellows of
Harvard College, 600 U.S. 181, 199 (2023).

28. Individual A is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a
student at a private university in Illinois. The university that he attends requires him
to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. But the defendants’ enforce-
ment of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 makes it impossible for In-
dividual A to purchase state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy
that forces him to pay for other people’s elective abortions.

29. Individual A is a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is
an act of murder. Individual A also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
him complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

30. Individual A’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact. Individual A is suftering further injury
in fact because the defendants are forcing him to choose between subsidizing other
people’s abortions and withdrawing from the university that he attends.

31. Individual B is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a

student at a private university in Illinois. The university that he attends requires him
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to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. But the defendants’ enforce-
ment of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 makes it impossible for In-
dividual B to purchase state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy
that forces him to pay for other people’s elective abortions.

32. Individual B is a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is
an act of murder. Individual B also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
him complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

33. Individual B’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact. Individual B is suftering further injury
in fact because the defendants are forcing him to choose between subsidizing other
people’s abortions and withdrawing from the university that he attends.

34. Individual C is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a
student at a private university in Illinois. The university that he attends requires him
to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. But the defendants’ enforce-
ment of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 makes it impossible for In-
dividual C to purchase state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy
that forces him to pay for other people’s elective abortions.

35. Individual Cis a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is
an act of murder. Individual C also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
him complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

36. Individual C’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-

cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact. Individual C is suffering further injury
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in fact because the defendants are forcing him to choose between subsidizing other
people’s abortions and withdrawing from the university that he attends.

37. Individual D is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a
student at a private university in Illinois. The university that he attends requires him
to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. But the defendants’ enforce-
ment of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 makes it impossible for In-
dividual D to purchase state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy
that forces him to pay for other people’s elective abortions.

38. Individual D is a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is
an act of murder. Individual D also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
her complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

39. Individual D’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact. Individual D is suffering further injury
in fact because the defendants are forcing him to choose between subsidizing other
people’s abortions and withdrawing from the university that he attends.

40. Individual E is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a
student at a private university in Illinois. The university that he attends requires him
to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. But the defendants’ enforce-
ment of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 makes it impossible for In-
dividual E to purchase state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy
that forces him to pay for other people’s elective abortions.

41. Individual E is a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is

an act of murder. Individual E also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
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health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
her complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

42. Individual E’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact. Individual E is suftering further injury
in fact because the defendants are forcing him to choose between subsidizing other
people’s abortions and withdrawing from the university that he attends.

43. Individual F is a member of Students for Life of America. He is currently a
student an undergraduate student at a public university in Illinois. The university that
he attends requires him to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. Indi-
vidual E is still on his parents’ health plan but he intends to remain and work in Illinois
after graduating. The defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60 will make it difficult or impossible for Individual D to purchase or
obtain state-regulated health insurance unless he enrolls in a policy that forces him to
pay for other people’s elective abortions.

44. Individual F is a Christian, and his Christian faith teaches that life begins at
conception and that the taking of an unborn human life through elective abortion is
an act of murder. Individual F also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
him complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

45. Individual F’s inability to purchase state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage inflicts injury in fact.

46. Students for Life has other members, in addition to Individuals A through
F, who are university students in Illinois and are suffering injuries in fact similar or
identical to those described above.

47. All of these Article III injuries are fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforce-
ment of Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And these injuries will be re-

dressed by the requested relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215
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ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illi-
nois Department of Insurance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to
offer abortion-free health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) En-
sure that none of the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated
health-insurance policies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abor-
tion coverage in any way.

48. The interests that Students for Life seeks to protect in the litigation are ger-
mane to the organization’s purpose. Students for Life exists to oppose abortion and
protect unborn children from violence. See supra, at q 20.

49. Neither the claims asserted by Students for Life nor the relief requested in
this litigation requires the participation of the organizations’ individual members.

B. Midwest Bible Church

50. Plaintift Midwest Bible Church is an independent, non-denominational
Christian church located in Illinois. It has three church employees. Midwest Bible
Church is a Christ-centered, Bible-believing congregation. Midwest Bible Church be-
lieves that all human life is sacred and that every human being has inherent dignity
and worth, and that elective abortion is a murderous act of violence against the most
vulnerable and defenseless members of the human family. Midwest Bible Church’s
anti-abortion stance is rooted in its sincere religious belief that life begins at concep-
tion and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of murder.
Midwest Bible Church also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-
insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one
complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

51. Midwest Bible Church purchases and provides health insurance for its em-
ployees, all of whom reside and work in Illinois. Midwest Bible Church, however, has

too few employees to self-insure or level-fund, and self-insurance and level-funding
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are financially unfeasible because one of its eligible employees is currently suffering
from an expensive pre-existing health condition. Christian bill-sharing is also not an
option because bill-sharing companies will not accept members with expensive pre-
existing health conditions. So Midwest Bible Church, which needs to provide health
insurance to its employees, including the employee who is currently suffering from an
expensive pre-existing health condition, has obtained health insurance for its employ-
ees from Blue Cross Blue Shield, but the Blue Cross Blue Shield plan (as required by
Illinois law) covers elective abortions and abortifacients without cost-sharing arrange-
ments, in violation of Midwest Bible Church’s religious beliefs.

52. Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Mid-
west Bible Church to purchase and provide state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage, and Midwest Bible Church cannot purchase or provide a
state-regulated health-insurance policy without paying for other people’s elective
abortions and becoming complicit in what it regards as an act of murder. This inflicts
injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

53. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any

way.
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C. Pro-Life Action League

54. Plaintift Pro-Life Action League is a nonprofit organization that exists to
oppose abortion and protect unborn children from violence. It employs five full-time
staff members. Pro-Life Action League’s opposition to abortion is rooted in its sincere
religious belief that life begins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an
unborn human life is an act of homicide. Pro-Life Action League also believes, on
sincere religious grounds, that paying health-insurance premiums that are used to
subsidize other people’s abortions makes one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave
moral evil.

55. DPro-Life Action League purchases and provides health insurance for its em-
ployees, all of whom reside and work in Illinois. Because Pro-Life Action is too small
to self-insure or level-fund, it must purchase health-insurance policies from state-reg-
ulated insurance companies in Illinois, who are required by state law to cover elective
abortions and abortifacients without cost-sharing arrangements.

56. Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Pro-Life
Action League to purchase and provide state-regulated health insurance that excludes
abortion coverage, and Pro-Life Action League cannot purchase or provide a state-
regulated health-insurance policy without paying for other people’s elective abortions
and becoming complicit in what it regards as an act of homicide. This inflicts injury
in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

57. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free

health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
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the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

D. Illinois Right to Life

58. Plaintift Illinois Right to Life is a nonprofit organization that exists to op-
pose abortion and protect unborn children from violence. It employs three full-time
staff members. Illinois Right to Life’s opposition to abortion is rooted in its sincere
religious belief that life begins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an
unborn human life is an act of murder. Illinois Right to Life also believes, on sincere
religious grounds, that paying health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize
other people’s abortions makes one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral
evil.

59. Illinois Right to Life purchases and provides health insurance for its employ-
ees, all of whom reside and work in Illinois. Because Illinois Right to Life is too small
to self-insure or level-fund, it must purchase health-insurance policies from state-reg-
ulated insurance companies in Illinois, who are required by state law to cover elective
abortions and abortifacients without cost-sharing arrangements.

60. Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Illinois
Right to Life to purchase and provide state-regulated health insurance that excludes
abortion coverage, and Illinois Right to Life cannot purchase or provide a state-reg-
ulated health-insurance policy without paying for other people’s elective abortions
and becoming complicit in what it regards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in
fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

61. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested

relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
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ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

E. Clapham School

62. Plaintiff Clapham School is a private Christian classical K-12 school located
in Wheaton, Illinois. It is committed to education founded on a Christian worldview
informed by the classical tradition. Every faculty member at Clapham School professes
faith in Jesus Christ, and the school seeks to point its students to Christ through all
subjects. See https://www.claphamschool.org/the-clapham-story

63. As a Christian institution, Clapham School opposes abortion. Clapham
School’s opposition to abortion is rooted in its sincere religious belief that life begins
at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of
murder. Clapham School also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

64. Clapham School employs 18 full-time staft members, and it purchases and
provides health insurance for these employees, all of whom reside and work in Illinois.
Because Clapham School is too small to self-insure or level-fund, it must purchase
health-insurance policies from state-regulated insurance companies in Illinois, who
are required by state law to cover elective abortions and abortifacients without cost-
sharing arrangements.

65. Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Clap-

ham School to purchase and provide state-regulated health insurance that excludes
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abortion coverage, and Clapham School cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated
health-insurance policy without paying for other people’s elective abortions and be-
coming complicit in what it regards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See
Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

66. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

F. DuPage Precision Products

67. Plaintiff DuPage Precision Products is a for-profit, closely held corporation
that does business in Illinois.

68. The owners of DuPage Precision Products are Christians who oppose abor-
tion, and their opposition to abortion is rooted in their sincere religious belief that
life begins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an
act of murder. The owners of DuPage Precision Products also believe, on sincere re-
ligious grounds, that paying health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize
other people’s abortions makes one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral
evil.

69. DuPage Precision Products purchases and provides health insurance for its
employees, all of whom reside and work in Illinois. Because DuPage Precision Prod-

ucts is too small to self-insure or level-fund, it must purchase state-regulated health-
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insurance policies from insurance companies in Illinois, who are required by state law
to cover elective abortions and abortifacients without cost-sharing arrangements.

70. Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for DuPage
Precision Products to purchase and provide state-regulated health insurance that ex-
cludes abortion coverage, and DuPage Precision Products cannot purchase or provide
a state-regulated health-insurance policy without paying for other people’s elective
abortions and becoming complicit in what it regards as an act of murder. This inflicts
injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

71. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

G. Michael Flynn

72. Plaintiff Michael Flynn is an Illinois resident. Mr. Flynn serves as Operations
Manager of DuPage Precision Products. As Operations Manager, Mr. Flynn is re-
sponsible for obtaining health insurance for the employees of DuPage Precision Prod-
ucts, including himself.

73. Mr. Flynn is a Christian. Mr. Flynn also opposes abortion. Mr. Flynn’s op-
position to abortion is rooted in his sincere religious belief that life begins at concep-

tion and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of murder. Mr.
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Flynn also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-insurance premi-
ums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one complicit in the
act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

74. Mr. Flynn wants to purchase health insurance for himself and his family. But
Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Mr. Flynn to pur-
chase state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Mr. Flynn
cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy without paying
for other people’s elective abortions and becoming complicit in what he regards as an
act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

75. Mr. Flynn also wants to obtain health insurance that excludes abortion cov-
erage for the employees of DuPage Precision Products. But Illinois’s compulsory
abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Mr. Flynn to obtain state-regulated
health insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Mr. Flynn cannot arrange for
DuPage Precision Products to purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance
policy without becoming complicit in what he regards as an act of murder. This inflicts
injury in fact. See Wheaton College v. Burwell, 573 U.S. 958 (2014).

76. These injuries are fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And these injuries will be redressed by the re-
quested relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a
and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department
of Insurance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to ofter abortion-
free health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none
of the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance
policies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in

any way.
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H.  Kolby Atchison

77. Plaintiff Kolby Atchison is an Illinois resident. Mr. Atchison serves as Head
of School at Clapham School. As Head of School, Mr. Atchison is responsible for
obtaining health insurance for the employees of Clapham School, including himself.

78. Mr. Atchison is a Christian. Mr. Atchison also opposes abortion. Mr.
Atchison opposition to abortion is rooted in his sincere religious belief that life begins
at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of
murder. Mr. Atchison also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-
insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one
complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

79. Mr. Atchison wants to purchase and obtain health insurance for himself and
his family. But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for
Mr. Atchison to purchase state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion cov-
erage, and Mr. Atchison cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insur-
ance policy without paying for other people’s elective abortions and becoming com-
plicit in what he regards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Hobby
Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

80. Mr. Atchison also wants to obtain health insurance that excludes abortion
coverage for the employees of Clapham School. But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-
coverage laws make it impossible for Mr. Atchison to obtain state-regulated health
insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Mr. Atchison cannot arrange for Illi-
nois Right to Life to purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy for
its employees without becoming complicit in what he regards as an act of murder.
This inflicts injury in fact. See Wheaton, 573 U.S. 958.

81. These injuries are fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And these injuries will be redressed by the re-

quested relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a
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and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department
of Insurance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to ofter abortion-
free health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none
of the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance
policies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in
any way.

L Jaclyn Cornell

82. Plaintiff Jaclyn Cornell is an Illinois resident. Ms. Cornell serves as Executive
Director of Illinois Right to Life. As Executive Director, Ms. Cornell is responsible
for obtaining health insurance for the employees of Illinois Right to Life, including
herself.

83. Ms. Cornell is a Christian. Ms. Cornell also opposes abortion. Ms. Cornell’s
opposition to abortion is rooted in her sincere religious belief that life begins at con-
ception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of murder.
Ms. Cornell also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-insurance
premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one complicit in
the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

84. Ms. Cornell wants to purchase health insurance for herself and her family.
But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Ms. Cornell
to purchase state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Ms.
Cornell cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy without
paying for other people’s elective abortions and becoming complicit in what she re-
gards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

85. Ms. Cornell also wants to obtain health insurance that excludes abortion
coverage for the employees of Illinois Right to Life. But Illinois’s compulsory abor-

tion-coverage laws make it impossible for Ms. Cornell to obtain state-regulated health
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insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Ms. Cornell cannot arrange for Illinois
Right to Life to purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy for its
employees without becoming complicit in what she regards as an act of murder. This
inflicts injury in fact. See Wheaton, 573 U.S. 958.

86. These injuries are fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And these injuries will be redressed by the re-
quested relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a
and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department
of Insurance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to ofter abortion-
free health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none
of the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance
policies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in
any way.

J. Ann Scheidler

87. Plaintiff Ann Scheidler is an Illinois resident. Ms. Scheidler serves as Execu-
tive Director of the Pro Life Action League. As Executive Director, Ms. Scheidler is
responsible for obtaining health insurance for the employees of the Pro Life Action
League.

88. Ms. Scheidler is a Christian. Ms. Scheidler also opposes abortion. Ms.
Scheidler’s opposition to abortion is rooted in her sincere religious belief that life
begins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act
of murder. Ms. Scheidler also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying
health-insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes
one complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

89. Ms. Scheidler is over 65 and has health insurance through Medicare. But

Ms. Scheidler wants to obtain health insurance that excludes abortion coverage for
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the employees of the Pro Life Action League. But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-
coverage laws make it impossible for Ms. Scheidler to obtain state-regulated health
insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Ms. Scheidler cannot arrange for the
Pro Life Action League to purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icy for its employees without becoming complicit in what she regards as an act of
murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Wheaton, 573 U.S. 958.

90. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

K. Eric Scheidler

91. Plaintiff Eric Scheidler is an Illinois resident employed by the Pro Life Ac-
tion League.

92. Mr. Scheidler is a Christian. Mr. Scheidler also opposes abortion. Mr.
Scheidler’s opposition to abortion is rooted in his sincere religious belief that life be-
gins at conception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of
murder. Mr. Scheidler also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-
insurance premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one
complicit in the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

93. Mr. Scheidler wants to purchase health insurance for himself and his family.

But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Mr. Scheidler
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to purchase state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Mr.
Scheidler cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy with-
out paying for other people’s elective abortions and becoming complicit in what he
regards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at
710.

94. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

L. Matthew Yonke

95. Plaintiff Matthew Yonke is an Illinois resident employed by the Pro Life
Action League.

96. Mr. Yonke is a Christian. Mr. Yonke also opposes abortion. Mr. Yonke’s
opposition to abortion is rooted in his sincere religious belief that life begins at con-
ception and that the unjustified taking of an unborn human life is an act of murder.
Mr. Yonke also believes, on sincere religious grounds, that paying health-insurance
premiums that are used to subsidize other people’s abortions makes one complicit in
the act of abortion, a grave moral evil.

97. Mr. Yonke wants to purchase health insurance for himself and his family.
But Illinois’s compulsory abortion-coverage laws make it impossible for Mr. Yonke to

purchase state-regulated health insurance that excludes abortion coverage, and Mr.
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Yonke cannot purchase or provide a state-regulated health-insurance policy without
paying for other people’s elective abortions and becoming complicit in what he re-
gards as an act of murder. This inflicts injury in fact. See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 710.

98. This injury is fairly traceable to the defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s
compulsory abortion-coverage laws. And this injury will be redressed by the requested
relief, which will enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215
ILCS 5/3562.60, and order the acting director of the Illinois Department of Insur-
ance to: (1) Require state-regulated insurance companies to offer abortion-free
health-insurance policies to employers and individuals; and (2) Ensure that none of
the premiums collected from those abortion-free state-regulated health-insurance pol-
icies are used to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion or abortion coverage in any
way.

Claim No. 1: The Defendants’ Enforcement Of Illinois’s Compulsory
Abortion-Coverage Laws Abridges The Free Exercise Of Religion, In Violation
Of The First And Fourteenth Amendments

99. The defendants’ enforcement of Illinois’s compulsory abortion-law cover-
age laws violates the each of the plaintiffs’ constitutional right to freely exercise their
religion. U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

100. Neither 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a nor 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60 qualifies as a neu-
tral and generally applicable law under Employment Division, Department of Human
Resources of Oregon v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872 (1990).

101. Both 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a, which compels private health-insurance policies
to cover elective abortions, and 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60, which compels private health-
insurance policies to cover abortion-inducing drugs without cost-sharing, provide an
exemption for any “multistate plan that does not provide coverage for abortion.” See

215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a(d); 215 ILCS 5,/3562.60(f).
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102. 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a also allows (but does not require) the Department of
Insurance to grant individualized exemptions if the Department concludes that the
enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a “may adversely affect the allocation of federal

funds to this State”:

If the Department concludes that enforcement of this Section may ad-
versely affect the allocation of federal funds to this State, the Depart-
ment may grant an exemption to the requirements, but only to the
minimum extent necessary to ensure the continued receipt of federal
funds.

215 ILCS 5/356z.4a(e). 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60 contains a similar provision:

If the Department concludes that enforcement of any coverage require-
ment of this Section for abortifacients may adversely affect the alloca-
tion of federal funds to this State, the Department may grant an exemp-
tion to that requirement, but only to the minimum extent necessary to
ensure the continued receipt of federal funds.

215 ILCS 5/356z.60(g). The allowance for these discretionary, individualized ex-
emptions defeats any claim that 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a or 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 is
“generally applicable” under Smith. See Fulton v. City of Philadelphin, 593 U.S. 522,
533-34 (2021).

103. 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 also provides an exception to its no-cost-sharing rule
by exempting high-deductible plans if (and only if) the no-cost-sharing arrangement
would render that high-deductible plan ineligible for a health savings account under

27 US.C. §223:

Except as otherwise provided in this Section, a policy subject to this
Section shall not impose a deductible, coinsurance, copayment, or any
other cost-sharing requirement on the coverage provided. The provi-
sions of this subsection do not apply to coverage of procedures to the
extent such coverage would disqualify a high-deductible health plan
from eligibility for a health savings account pursuant to the federal In-
ternal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. 223.

215 ILCS 5,/3562.60(d).
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104. Finally, both 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 provide ex-
emptions for grandfathered health-insurance policies that were issued, amended, de-
livered, or renewed in Illinois before a certain date. See 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a(a) (ap-
plying only to health-insurance policies “issued, amended, delivered, or renewed in
this State after the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 101st General Assembly
unless the policy provides a covered person with coverage for abortion”); 215 ILCS
5/356z.60(b) (applying only to health-insurance policies “amended, delivered, is-
sued, or renewed in this State on or after January 1, 2024”).

105. The availability of these individualized exemptions in 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a
and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 defeats any claim that the laws are “generally applicable”
under Smith. See Fulton, 593 U.S. at 533-34 (“‘[W Jhere the State has in place a sys-
tem of individual exemptions, it may not refuse to extend that system to cases of
“religious hardship” without compelling reason.’” (quoting Smith, 494 U.S. at 884)).

106. Smith is inapplicable to this lawsuit for an additional reason: Several of the
plaintiffs are asserting a hybrid-rights claim, as they allege that the enforcement of 215
ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/356z.60 violates not only their rights under the
Free Exercise Clause but also their right to expressive association under the First
Amendment. See infra at 9 110-111; Smith, 494 U.S. at 881 (“[ D ]ecisions in which
we have held that the First Amendment bars application of a neutral, generally appli-
cable law to religiously motivated action have involved not the Free Exercise Clause
alone, but the Free Exercise Clause in conjunction with other constitutional protec-
tions . . . . [I]tis easy to envision a case in which a challenge on freedom of association
grounds would likewise be reinforced by Free Exercise Clause concerns”); Fulton, 593
U.S. at 598-600 (Alito, J., concurring) (“[ M Jany claims for religious exemptions can
casily be understood as hybrid free-exercise /free-speech claims.”). The plaintifts are
also alleging that 215 ILCS 5,/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60 are preempted by

numerous federal statutes. See infra at I 113-122. So the plaintifts’ free-exercise
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challenge to the defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS
5/356z.60 triggers strict scrutiny rather than the per se legality rule of Smith.

107. The defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS
5/356z.60 substantially burdens the plaintiffs’ free exercise of religion. Each of these
statutes prevents the plaintiffs from obtaining or purchasing health insurance for
themselves or their employees unless they pay for other people’s abortions and be-
come complicit in the provision of elective abortions and abortion-inducing drugs.
That imposes a “substantial burden” of the plaintifts’ exercise of their religious faith.
See Hobby Lobby, 573 U.S. at 725; Wheaton, 573 U.S. 958; Little Sisters of the Poor
Saints Peter & Paul Home v. Pennsylvania, 591 U.S. 657, 681 (2020) (courts “must
accept the sincerely held complicity-based objections of religious entities.”).

108. The defendants must therefore prove that their refusal to provide religious
exceptions or accommodations in 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5,/356z.60 is
the “least restrictive means” of advancing a “compelling governmental interest.” See
Fulton, 593 U.S. at 541 (“The question, then, is not whether the City has a compel-
ling interest in enforcing its non-discrimination policies generally, but whether it has
such an interest in denying an exception to CSS.”). The defendants cannot make this
showing. There is no compelling governmental interest in forcing religious objectors
(or anyone else) to pay for other people’s abortions. And even if the defendants
wanted to assert a “compelling governmental interest” in making elective abortions
available at no charge to any person who wants them, there are ways to accomplish
that goal without forcing religious objectors to choose between paying for other peo-
ple’s abortions and forgoing health insurance entirely.

109. The free-exercise claim is brought by each of the plaintiffs.
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Claim No. 2: The Defendants’ Enforcement Of Illinois’s Compulsory
Abortion-Coverage Laws Abridges The Right Of Expressive Association, In
Violation Of The First And Fourteenth Amendments

110. The defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS
5/356z.60 further violates the constitutional rights of Students for Life, Pro-Life Ac-
tion League, and Illinois Right to Life by abridging their First Amendment right of
expressive association. See Boy Scouts v. Dale, 530 U.S. 640 (2000).

111. Each of the organizational plaintifts exists to oppose abortion and protect
unborn children from murderous acts of violence. They all express anti-abortion mes-
sages and associate for the purpose of propagating those anti-abortion messages. Forc-
ing the organizational plaintiffs to pay for abortions as a condition of providing health
insurance to their employees affects in a significant way their ability to advocate those
viewpoints, because they must either: (1) Refuse to provide health insurance to their
employees, which makes it difficult to recruit and retain capable staff members; or (2)
Aid and abet the very behaviors that they condemn, which undercuts the credibility
of their anti-abortion message and exposes them to charges of hypocrisy. Whatever
choice they make will “affect[] in a significant way the group’s ability to advocate
public or private viewpoints.” Boy Scouts, 530 U.S. at 648.

112. The expressive-association claim is brought only by Students for Life, Mid-

west Bible Church, Pro-Life Action League, and Illinois Right to Life.

Claim No. 3: The Defendants’ Enforcement Of Illinois’s Compulsory
Abortion-Coverage Laws Is Preempted By 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462

113. Federal law outlaws and criminalizes each of the following acts:

a. Knowingly using the mails for the mailing, carriage, or delivery of
abortion-related paraphernalia;!

1. See18 US.C. § 1461.
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b. Knowingly using any express company, common carrier, or interac-
tive computer service for carriage of abortion-related paraphernalia
in interstate or foreign commerce;* and

c. Knowingly taking or receiving abortion-related paraphernalia from
an express company, a Common carrier, or an interactive computer
service.?

18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462. Every abortion provider in United States is violating these
federal criminal prohibitions by obtaining abortion-inducing drugs or abortion-re-
lated equipment through the mails or from an express company, common carrier, or
interactive computer service. The Biden Administration is refusing to prosecute abor-
tion providers for these crimes, but they are criminal acts nonetheless. See Application
of the Comstock Act to the Mailing of Prescription Drugs That Can Be Used for Abor-
tions, 46 Op. O.L.C. ___ (Dec. 23,2022).

114. 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS 5/3562.60 require health insurers and
their beneficiaries to aid or abet violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462 by reimburs-
ing abortion providers who obtain abortion-inducing drugs and abortion-related par-
aphernalia in violation of federal law. Each of these statutes is preempted to the extent
it requires coverage of abortions and abortion-inducing drugs from providers who
refuse to comply with 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462.

115. The preemption claim under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462 is brought by each

of the plaintiffs.

Claim No. 4: The Defendants’ Enforcement Of Illinois’s Compulsory
Abortion-Coverage Laws Is Preempted By The Coates—Snowe Amendment, 42
U.S.C. § 238n(a)

116. The defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS

5/356z.60 also violates the Coates—Snowe amendment, which provides as follows:

2. See 18 US.C. § 1462(a)—(c).
3. See 18 U.S.C. § 1462 (last two paragraphs).
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The Federal Government, and any State or local government that re-
ceives Federal financial assistance, may not subject any health care entity
to discrimination on the basis that—

(1) the entity refuses to undergo training in the performance of induced
abortions, to require or provide such training, to perform such abor-
tions, or to provide referrals for such training or such abortions; [or]

(2) the entity refuses to make arrangements for any of the activities
specified in paragraph (1);

42 U.S.C. § 238n(a).

117. The state of Illinois is a “State or local government that receives Federal
financial assistance” because it receives payments for the federal government as reim-
bursement for carrying out Medicaid and other “health-related activities.” 42 U.S.C.
§ 238n(c)(1).

118. Illinois is therefore violating 42 U.S.C. § 238n(a) by discriminating against
health insurers that refuse to cover elective abortions or abortion-inducing drugs.

119. The preemption claim under 42 U.S.C. § 238n(a) is brought by each of the

plaintiffs.

Claim No. 5: The Defendants’ Enforcement Of Illinois’s Compulsory
Abortion-Coverage Laws Is Preempted By The Weldon Amendment

120. The defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and 215 ILCS
5/356z.60 violates the Weldon Amendment, which provides as follows:

None of the funds made available in this Act may be made available to
a Federal agency or program, or to a State or local government, if such
agency, program, or government subjects any institutional or individual
health care entity to discrimination on the basis that the health care
entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abor-
tions.

Pub. L. 111-8, § 508(d)(1).
121. The state of Illinois is a “State or local government” that receives federal
funds because it receives payments for the federal government as reimbursement for

carrying out Medicaid and other programs.
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122. Tllinois is therefore violating 42 U.S.C. § 238n(a) by discriminating against

health insurers that refuse to cover elective abortions or abortion-inducing drugs.

123. The preemption claim under the Weldon Amendment is brought by each

of the plaintiffs.

CAUSES OF ACTION

124. The plaintiffs are asserting these claims against the defendants under 42

U.S.C. § 1983, the Declaratory Judgment Act (28 U.S.C. § 2201), and the implied

cause of action recognized in Ex parte Younyg, 209 U.S. 123 (1908), and Armstronygy

v. Exceptional Child Center, Inc., 575 U.S. 320, 326-27 (2015), each of which sup-

plies a cause of action for the relief that they are requesting.

DEMAND FOR RELIEF

125. The plaintifts respectfully request that the court:

a.

COMPLAINT

declare that the defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and
215 ILCS 5/356z.60 violates each of the plaintiffs’ constitutional
rights under the Free Exercise Clause;

declare that the defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and
215 ILCS 5/356z.60 violates each of the organizational plaintitts’ con-
stitutional right of expressive association under the First Amendment;
declare that the defendants’ enforcement of 215 ILCS 5/356z.4a and
215 ILCS 5/3562.60 is preempted by 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462, the
Coates—Snowe amendment (42 U.S.C. § 238n(a)), and the Weldon
Amendment;

permanently enjoin the defendants from enforcing 215 ILCS

5,/356z.4a or 215 ILCS 5,/3562.60;
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e.  enter a permanent injunction that will compel Acting Director Gillespie
and her successors to require every state-regulated health-insurance is-
suer to offer and make available health-insurance policies that exclude
abortion coverage to any individual or employer who asks for such a
policy, and to ensure that none of the premiums collected from policies
that exclude abortion coverage are used to directly or indirectly subsi-
dize elective abortions or the coverage of elective abortions or abortion-
inducing drugs in any way;

t.  award the plaintiffs costs and attorneys’ fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988;

g. grant all other relief that the Court deems just, proper, or equitable.

Respectfully submitted.

s/ Jonathan F. Mitchell

THOMAS BREJCHA JONATHAN F. MITCHELL
PETER BREEN Mitchell Law PLLC

Thomas More Society 111 Congress Avenue, Suite 400
309 West Washington Street, Suite 1250  Austin, Texas 78701

Chicago, Illinois 60606 (512) 686-3940 (phone)

(312) 782-1680 (phone) (512) 686-3941 (fax)

(312) 782-1887 (fax) jonathan@mitchell law

info@thomasmoresociety.org

Dated: November 20, 2024 Counsel for Plaintiffs
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2 U.S. Government [J4 Diversity Citizen of Another State [] 2 [d 2 Incorporated and Principal Place [] 5 O s
Defendant (Indicate citizenship of parties in Item I11.) of Business in Another State
Citizen or Subject of a . .
Foreign Country Os O 3 Foreign Nation e e
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Check one box, only.)
[ CONTRACT TORTS PRISONER PETITIONS LABOR OTHER STATUTES
[J110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY | 10 totions to Vacate 710 Falt Labor Standards | 7 375 False Claims Act
[0 120 Marine [0 310 Airplane [ 365 Personal Injury - |1 530 General O 720 Labor/Management | 376 qu;z'gag)gi’:l usc
01315 Airplane Product Liability Product Liability Relations
1320 Assault, Libel & Slander 367 I'Sﬁaarlrtlrw]a%g&%/cal [ 535 Death Penalty [J400 State Reapportionment
[1130 Miller Act [ 330 Federal Employers' Personal Injury _ )
Liability Product Liability Other: [J 740 Railway Labor Act [J410 Antitrust
[ 140 Negotiable Instrument [] 340 Marine O 368 Asbestos Personal  |[J540 Mandamus & Other [ 751 Family and Medical |[430 Banks and Banking
0150 Recovery of Overpayment |[] 345 Marine Product Liability Injury Product 1550 Civil Rights Leave Act [[J450 Commerce
& Enforcement of Judgment |[] 350 Motor Vehicle Liability 1555 Prison Condition [ 790 Other Labor Litigation|[]460 Deportation
[1151 Medicare Act [] 355 Motor Vehicle Product [7560 Civil Detainee - [ 791 Employee Retirement [[]470 Racketeer Influenced
D152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability ) PERSONAL PROPERTY Conditions Income Security Act and Corrupt
Student Loan [ 360 Other Personal Injury of Confinement Organizations
(Excludes Veterans) [] 362 Personal Injury - Medical [ 370 Other Fraud [1480 Consumer Credit
153 Recovery of Veteran’s Malpractice : ) PROPERTY RIGHTS
O Benefits [ 371 Truth in Lending T 820 Copyright [1 485 Telephone Consumer
[ 160 Stockholders’ Suits [ 380 Other Personal [ 830 Patent Protection Act (TCPA)
[1190 Other Contract Property Damage [ 835 Patent - Abbreviated |[]490 Cable/Sat TV
[1195 Contract Product Liability [J 385 Property Damage New Drug Application |[]850 Securities/fCommodities/
[J196 Franchise Product Liability [0 840 Trademark Exchange
[] 880 Defend Trade Secrets [1890 Other Statutory Actions
Act of 2016 (DTSA)  |[1891 Agricultural Arts
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS BANKRUPTCY FORFEITURE/PENALTY SOCIAL SECURITY [1893 Environmental Matters
[ 210 Land Condemnation |®I 440 Other Civil Rights [0 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 |[J 625 Drug Related Seizure | 861 HIA (1395ff) [ 895 Freedom of Information
[ 220 Foreclosure O 441 Voting [ 423 withdrawal gfl 'ijrg%eggl [J 862 Black Lung (923) Act
[ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment [ 442 Employment 28 USC 157 [1690 Other [J 863 DIWC/DIWW 1896 Agbit‘ra_tion ]
[ 240 Torts to Land [ 443 Housing/Accommodations (405(g)) O 899 érorégghsrtéat've
[ 245 Tort Product Liability [ 445 Amer. w/ Disabilities- IMMIGRATION [ 864 SSID Title XVI Act/Review or Appeal of
[J 290 All Other Real Property Employment [1 462 Naturalization [1 865 RSI (405(g)) Agency Decision
[ 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Application [1950 Constitutionality of
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[0 465 Other Immigration [J 871 IRS—Third Party
Actions 26 USC 7609
V. ORIGIN (Check one box, only.)
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VII. PREVIOUS BANKRUPTCY MATTERS (For nature of suit 422 and

423, enter the case number and judge for any associated bankruptcy matter previously adjudicated by
a judge of this Court. Use a separate attachment if necessary.)

V1. CAUSE OF ACTION ( Enter U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and

write a brief statement of cause.)
42 U.S.C. § 1983, 28 U.S.C. § 2201
VIII. REQUESTED IN H

COMPLAINT:
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Jury Demand: [] Yes ¥1 No

Check if this is a class action under Rule 23, Demand $

F.R.CV.P.

IX. RELATED CASE(S) IF ANY (see instructions): Judge Case Number
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Date: November 20, 2024 Signature of Attorney of Record /S/ Jonathan F. Mitchell






